
Planning Board Minutes, May 4, 2016 1 

Borough of Franklin Lakes 
Bergen County, New Jersey 

Planning Board Minutes 
May 4, 2016 

Regular Meeting 
 

Meeting Called to Order at 7:30PM 

 
Open Public Meetings Statement: Read into the record by 
Chairwoman Vierheilig 

 
Salutation to the Flag 

 
Preamble: Read into the record by Chairwoman Vierheilig 
 

Roll Call: Mayor Bivona, Councilman Kahwaty, Messrs. Gostkowski, 
Lauber, Pullaro, Chairwoman Vierheilig, Messrs. Lazerowitz (absent), 

Linz, Sheppard, Ms. Mucci (absent at time of roll call; arrived at 7:36PM), 
Mr. Ochs (absent) 
 

Fire Safety Announcement: Read into the record by Chairwoman 
Vierheilig 
 

Also in Attendance: Mark Madaio Esq., Board Attorney; Ms. Eileen 
Boland, Boswell Engineering/Board Engineer; Ms. Maria Berardi, 

Planning Board Clerk; JoAnn Carroll, Recording Secretary 

 
Board Discussion: None 

 
Approval of Minutes: Councilman Kahwaty, Lauber 
All in Favor 
April 6, 2016 
April 20, 2016, as amended 
 
Mr. Pullaro: stated there was an error in the wording on page 5 of the April 20, 
2016 minutes; the word “sewer” should be corrected/changed. 
 

 
Please note: Ms. Mucci has arrived at this point of the meeting: 7:36PM 

 
Motion to open the public hearing: Councilman Kahwaty, Pullaro 
All in Favor 

 
 



Planning Board Minutes, May 4, 2016 2 

Kern, Major Subdivision, 570 Summit Avenue, Block 23.01.02, Lot 2.01; two 
new proposed lots 
 
Noel Holland, Esq., applicant’s attorney: stated the notices were sent on April 20, 
2016 and published in The Record on April 22, 2106; the notice in the newspaper 
advertised for both the Completeness and Public Hearing; proof of service was 
submitted to the Board Secretary and Mr. Madaio. 
 
Mr. Holland: stated the dimensions of the lot; proposal is to subdivide one lot; 
existing house to remain on the lot; Bergen County Planning Board approval 
exemption letter submitted to the Board Secretary this evening; the wetlands issue 
with the property has also been resolved with the NJDEP; applicant’s engineer will 
address this issue; two witnesses to present; Mr. John Miceli, surveyor and Mr. 
Thomas Donohue, engineer; Mr. Kern is also available to testify. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: asked why the determination of a major subdivision had been made for 
this application. 
 
Mr. Madaio: stated on page 3 of the Boswell report it is stated that a minor 
subdivision with variances is classified as a major subdivision. 
 
Mr. John Miceli, JP Miceli Surveying, LLC: sworn in by Mr. Madaio; gave his 
credentials; accepted as an expert in the field of surveying; identified the sketch plat 
dated 4/28/15 with the latest revision date of 3/28/16; marked as Exhibit A1; 
described the property; established outside boundary of property; went back and 
did some topography of the property; located the wetland flags; existing dwelling 
shown on Lot 2.01; macadam pad in rear used as a basketball court; applicants 
would like to keep this feature; part of the court encroaches into the rear setback; 
will require a variance; same with the existing dwelling; only other item is a small 
shed located on the property which will be removed; intent to have monuments set 
up; monuments denoted; pipes found and noted; monuments will be set. 
 
Ms. Boland: stated the monuments should be shown on the as-built survey. 
 
Mr. Miceli: agreed. 
 
No further comments/questions of the surveyor. 
 
Mr. Thomas Donohue, applicant’s engineer: sworn in by Mr. Madaio; qualified as 
an expert in the field of engineering; Exhibit A2 marked: plot plan with construction 
details, 2 pages, dated 9/15/15 with the latest revision date of 3/28/16; date on 
plans stated “3/28/15”; typo noted; should state “16”. 
 
Mr. Donohue: reviewed the proposed development of the lot; subject lot is2.01 in 
Block 2301.02; subject property is in the A-40 zone; surrounded by residential uses; 
existing property has an existing 2-story framed dwelling, driveway, basketball 



Planning Board Minutes, May 4, 2016 3 

court, pond and wetlands; the pond and the wetlands were delineated and approved 
by the NJDEP; Letter of Interpretation (LOI) received; the applicant has received a 
NJDEP GP10A permit for disturbance for the driveway access; the wetlands were 
approved with a 50 ft. transition area; follows the water limits of the pond; outside 
of the limits to the west of the pond; proposing 2 lot subdivision; major subdivision 
classification; both lots will conform to bulk requirements except for existing 
structure; front yard variance needed; Lot 2.03 will not have any improvements; Lot 
2.04 will contain a new single family structure, driveway to Smoke Hollow and a 
conceptual pool and patio area; new septic system to be installed and underground 
stormwater drainage; a water pipe will be extended from the existing main to 
service the new dwelling; the proposed subdivision creates a variance condition for 
the basketball court; there is a requirement of 25 ft. of no disturbance to the 
structure; with the subdivision line it will be 13.1 ft.; along with that the proposed 
driveway to Lot 2.04 does not provide the 20 ft. setback to the side property line 
beyond the front yard setback because of the existing wetlands and transition areas 
required by the DEP; the applicant is proposing to install, during construction, silt 
fencing around the wetlands area and the disturbance area to the north and east and 
along the westernmost boundary line; there is some soil movement to construct the 
new dwelling; estimating 766 cu. yds. of excavation; fill to be placed on the site; any 
remaining excess will be removed from the property; letter received from Boswell 
Engineering dated April 11, 2016; marked as Exhibit B1; first two pages are 
qualifying the plans and describing the property; Item #6: discussed the issue with 
the basketball court and required variance for the rear yard setback and the existing 
nonconformity of the existing dwelling on Lot 2.03; Item #7: discussed the proposed 
driveway and the requirement to have variances for the need to have a 20 ft. setback 
to the side yard; there is an existing shed which will be removed; Page 4 discusses 
soil movement application which will be required after this with a final layout of the 
selected house; not sure if that will change at this time; Item #10 (g): discussed 
landscaping requirements; not sure what they are at this time. 
 
Ms. Boland: stated the applicant would need to work with the Borough’s Tree 
Specialist. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated he will coordinate with him if the application is approved. 
 
Mr. Donohue: Item 10 (j) is the Environmental Impact Statement; proposing a 
single family house; applicant has gone through and obtained a LOI from the NJDEP; 
the LOI was submitted with the application; also obtained a GP10A permit for the 
disturbance of the proposed driveway; no other disturbance in the transition areas 
proposed. 
 
Mr. Madaio: asked if a waiver of that submission is requested. 
 
Mr. Holland: stated, per the ordinance, the Board can require it, but it is not 
mandatory. 
 



Planning Board Minutes, May 4, 2016 4 

Mr. Donohue: stated the surveyor discussed the monuments that will be set after 
the application has been approved; Item #11 NJDEP discussed; Item #12 drainage 
calculations, discussed; seepage pit calculations acceptable to the engineer; Item 
#16 applicant will submit an application for tree removal for 5 trees and coordinate 
with the Borough Tree Specialist for the planting of the required trees; Item #17 
discussed; Item #18 proposed pool which has been relocated out of the existing 
easement; conceptual plan which will need to be finalized for the building permit; 
Item #23 the Board of Health wants additional test pits; more holes were dug; they 
were satisfied with the results found; will be submitting an application for the new 
septic system; Tax Assessor will have to approve the lot numbers. 
 
Mr. Holland: asked, in regards to the variance issues, and from the prospective of 
an engineer, do the conditions described arise from a unique nature. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated they are from an undue hardship. 
 
Mr. Holland: asked if he believed the variances could be granted without negative 
impact on the ordinances of Franklin Lakes. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated Yes; in his opinion as an engineer, the benefits outweigh the 
detriments in granting the variances. 
 
Mr. Linz: stated he was concerned with the width of the driveway being 11 ft.; 
driveway should be wider; main reason is the house is off the roadway by 250 ft. to 
the front door and getting the hose to the house by hand in case of a fire would be 
difficult. 
 
Mr. Holland: stated the applicant could widen the driveway to 12 ft. but then an 
additional variance would be needed; the notice does have a provision regarding 
additional variances needed; the Board could suggest and it could be included as 
another variance. 
 
Mr. Linz: asked if 12 ft. was as wide as the applicant could widen the driveway; 
NFPA standards are 14 ft. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated he believes that is wider than necessary; emergency vehicles 
have a width of approximately 8 ft. 
 
Mr. Linz: stated he disagreed; the newer trucks are closer to 10 ft. in width; wiggle 
room is needed; not a lot of parking available; trucks would have to be stacked. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: asked why the driveway couldn’t be widened on the lower side. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated because of the wetlands disturbance; very close to it at this 
time. 
 



Planning Board Minutes, May 4, 2016 5 

Mr. Pullaro: asked how far A7 was to the property line. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated approximately 32 ft.; can’t go up to the A7 line; there is a 
transition area. 
 
Mr. Lauber: stated if the choice was 7 ft. or 10 ft. off the property line or a driveway 
that is safe, he would opt for the variance off the property line. 
 
Mr. Holland: stated the applicant had no objection to the additional variance. 
 
Mayor Bivona: asked if the driveway could be 13 ft. wide. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated it would just make it a wider driveway. 
 
Mr. Linz: stated a 14 ft. driveway for the entire length would be recommended. 
 
Chairwoman Vierheilig: asked if it was over a drainage easement as well. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated Yes; agreed to the 14 ft. driveway. 
 
Mayor Bivona: asked if there was any screening on site at this time. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated he did not recall; can be added if needed. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated he is worried the closer we get to the property line for the 
adjacent dwellings. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated screening can be submitted with the revised plans. 
 
Mr. Holland: stated the applicant has no objection to screening along the driveway. 
 
Ms. Boland: asked if the plantings could compromise the pipe that is mapped at that 
drainage easement. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated the storm drain is about 5 ft. down; 21 inch pipe; can place 
some plantings adjacent to it. 
 
Chairman Vierheilig: confirmed the Board was asking for landscaping until the 
driveway turns into the property. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated the basketball court in the future will be adjacent to a home; 
concerned about noise; would like an assurance that there will be no lighting 
associated with the court and that screening would be put in place. 
 
Mr. Holland: suggested the questions of Mr. Donohue be concluded and then Mr. 
Kern can address the issue of the basketball court. 



Planning Board Minutes, May 4, 2016 6 

Mr. Sheppard: asked how many bedrooms the septic system was drawn for. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated 4 bedrooms. 
 
Mr. Sheppard: asked how close to the patio and pool is the proposed system. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated what is shown on the plans will change because of the test 
holes that were dug last week; not a final location. 
 
Mr. Sheppard: stated he is concerned about the total buildable area; asked what 
that was outside of the setbacks and the wetlands. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated he had not made that calculation. 
 
Mr. Sheppard: stated a septic system that is good today may have to be moved in 
the future; not a lot of buildable area. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated he did find good soils; not anticipating them failing; Board of 
Health will review. 
 
Mr. Sheppard: stated the State regulations have given us an idea to what the size of 
the lots should be; most of our lots with septic are 40k sq. ft.; this lot is considerably 
smaller; seems like a tight area to place a house, pool and septic system; it might 
meet regulations if you take into account the wetlands and transition areas where 
you can’t do anything; would like to know what the buildable area is. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated he did not have that calculation; the existing drainage 
easement cuts off part of the property; cannot use that property in the northern 
corner because of that; doesn’t know the buildable area outside of the wetlands; will 
provide if necessary. 
 
Mr. Lauber: asked if the existing house on the property goes back to the 208 ramp. 
 
Mr. Holland: stated Yes. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: asked why the additional test pits weren’t shown on the plans. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated they are labeled on the plans; what was found is shown on the 
plans; there will be some filling on the property which is proposed; the system will 
be slightly elevated from the ground surface. 
 
Mr. Holland: stated the additional test holes dug last week are not reflected on the 
plans. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: asked if Mr. Donohue was confident he could install a septic system 
without being mounded up. 



Planning Board Minutes, May 4, 2016 7 

 
Mr. Donohue: stated it will be mounded up a foot or two. 
 
Mayor Bivona: asked if the pond was part of the drainage system; asked if it 
drained anywhere. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated there is a drainage swale along the front which picks up 
surface water from the adjacent lots; challenging to understand how the system 
works; believes it is more of an overland condition. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated he is concerned about gaining access to the pond if dredging 
is needed in the future. 
 
Mr. Donohue:  stated he is not sure; best to speak with the applicant. 
 
Ms. Boland: stated, as far as the development, silt fencing needs to be placed and 
kept in good order throughout construction so nothing drains; doesn’t believe the 
Borough would need access to the pond; it overflows into our drainage system; 
pipes bypass it; that is the system we are concerned with. 
 
Mr. Linz: asked if it was a natural spring. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated surface runoff flows into it. 
 
Mr. Linz: asked how deep the pond was. 
 
Mr. Kern: stated 11 ft. 
 
Chairwoman Vierheilig: asked Ms. Boland if she was satisfied with the application 
as presented. 
 
Ms. Boland: stated she did need the silt fence certified by the surveyor along the 
limits; would like it certified by the drainage easement as well as in the back 
because of the piping there; certified by the surveyor after it is installed. 
 
Mr. Donohue: agreed. 
 
Ms. Boland: stated she had a concern; if the septic is put in place and the home is 
built, there would be no way to access the pool without going into the drainage 
easement of the pipe or septic; the pool would have to be constructed at the same 
time as the house. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated that can be done; pool is conceptual at this time. 
 
Ms. Boland: stated it is not often thought of in that order; in regards to the 
driveway, with the variance now needed, the applicant would have to go before the 



Planning Board Minutes, May 4, 2016 8 

Mayor and Council for approval because it is in the easement; if the Mayor and 
Council were to approve, a hold harmless agreement would be needed. 
 
Chairman Vierheilig: asked for Ms. Boland’s view of not having an environment 
impact statement. 
 
Ms. Boland: stated it is not a requirement; given the fact the applicant has gone to 
the DEP, Boswell would take no exception to the Board waiving this item. 
 
Mayor Bivona: asked if the hold harmless agreement would be for the whole plan. 
 
Ms. Boland: stated it would be just for the disturbance in the easement for the 
driveway; not the whole plan. 
 
Exhibit A3 marked: Grading Plan prepared by Mr. Donohue. 
 
Mr. Karl Kern, 691 Small Hollow Trail: sworn in by Mr. Madaio; has owned 570 
Summit Avenue since 1983; described basketball court; tore down structure that 
had started to be built by the previous owner; made it a play area; there is no 
lighting by or on the court; if the Board approved the subdivision, he would agree to 
the stipulations of no lighting and no expansion of the court; would also place a row 
of arborvitaes for screening; the widening of the road has made the house closer to 
the road over the years; described the pond on the property; one corner of the pond 
never freezes; nice feature of property. 
 
No further questions/comments of Mr. Kern. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: stated he would like to know the buildable area of the lot; it is a small 
area; thinks it is less than 25k sq. ft.; for Lot 2.03 to stay at 40k sq. ft. so no bulk 
variance would be needed, wondered if the lot line could be moved to make the lot 
less than 40k sq. ft. and that will add to Lot 2.04. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated in the middle of the lot, along the house, the measurement is 
about 175 and then again in the middle of the area is about 135. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: stated the applicant is encumbered with a drainage easement; he is 
more interested in the buildable area. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated there are a number of encumbrances on the property; the 
property is an odd shape; doesn’t include the driveway or the triangle in the back; 
just in the front area; house is outside the building setbacks. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: asked if the applicant could gain some square footage for a better Lot 
2.04, in his opinion. 
 



Planning Board Minutes, May 4, 2016 9 

Mr. Holland: stated the applicant wants to accommodate the Board; buildable area 
is not addressed by the ordinance; not something the applicant would be addressing 
or could anticipate. 
 
Mr. Madaio: asked if the septic system could be moved if it needed to be. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated there are acceptable areas now on the property; front and side 
of the building; areas are available. 
 
Mr. Holland: stated what is before the Board is a conceptual plan; with more area 
you will have a bigger pool, etc. 
 
Mr. Sheppard: stated he didn’t disagree; lots with smaller and smaller areas are 
becoming a concern; the applicant is correct; our ordinance does not address the 
buildable area only; it takes into account the entire lot which includes non-buildable 
areas; deep slopes, wetlands, drainage easements, etc. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: stated impervious coverage depends on the entire lot; the Board can’t 
control the square footage of the house. 
 
Mr. Madaio: stated No, unless an FAR ordinance was introduced; the lot is fairly 
oversized; just about 60k sq. ft. 
 
Mr. Pullaro: asked if the size of the house could be limited. 
 
Mr. Holland: stated that would be a problem. 
 
Chairwoman Vierheilig: stated that, in effect, if the test pits come back poor, the 
septic would be limited in size which would dictate the size of the house. 
 
Mr. Holland: stated exactly. 
 
Chairwoman Vierheilig: asked if Mr. Donohue was confident the septic system 
could be installed in the general area where it is shown. 
 
Mr. Donohue: stated Yes; or in the front of the house outside of the transition area. 
 
Mr. Sheppard: stated we are having to deal with smaller and smaller lots; the DEP 
has recommendations for the size of lots with septic systems and within it, it speaks 
to the buildable areas. 
 
Chairwoman Vierheilig: stated there might also be a determination that a pool 
cannot be installed. 
 
Motion to close pubic hearing: Mayor Bivona, Lauber 
All in Favor 



Planning Board Minutes, May 4, 2016 10 

Mr. Pullaro: asked about moving the property line. 
 
Mayor Bivona: stated he did not believe that was an option for the applicant. 
 
Mr. Sheppard: asked if the applicant would have to come back before the Board for 
a boundary line adjustment if he wanted to build a larger house but wouldn’t be able 
to because of the septic system. 
 
Mr. Holland: stated the plan is what the plan is. 
 
Motion to approve the application with the following stipulations: widening of 
the driveway to 14 ft., encroaching side yard setback, landscaped buffer by 
driveway, landscaping buffer behind the basketball court, certified silt fence, 
staging of the pool and house, no lighting for the basketball court, no 
expansion of the basketball court, waiver granted for the Environmental 
Impact Statement: Mayor Bivona, Councilman Kahwaty 
Ayes: Mayor Bivona, Councilman Kahwaty, Gostkowski, Lauber, Pullaro, 
Chairwoman Vierheilig, Linz, Sheppard 
 
Mr. Holland: stated, as an additional matter, requested the application be classified 
as a minor subdivision so it can be perfected by deed as opposed to by map; 
previously been done before. 
 
Ms. Boland: stated the Board has done so in the past; it is okay with her; requires 
the metes and bounds description to be sent to her for review before filing the deed. 

 
Voucher: Councilman Kahwaty, Sheppard 
All in Favor 
 
Mark Madaio, Esq., Planning Board Attorney 
 Meeting attendance, 4/20/16  $300.00 

 
Motion to adjourn: Councilman Kahwaty, Mayor Bivona 
All in Favor 
 
Meeting adjourned at 8:45PM. 
 
Respectfully submitted by: 
 
JoAnn Carroll 
Recording Secretary 
May 11, 2016 
 


